IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

DAISY TRUST, A NEVADA TRUST

Supreme Court No. 82611

Appellant,

v.

GREEN VALLEY SOUTH OWNERS ASSOCIATION NO. 1, A NEVADA NON-PROFIT CORPORATION; AND NEVADA ASSOCIATION SERVICES, A DOMESTIC CORPORATION Electronically Filed Jul 20 2021 12:32 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Respondents.

Counsel for Appellant:

Roger P. Croteau, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 4958 Christopher L. Benner, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 8963 ROGER P. CROTEAU & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 2810 W. Charleston Blvd., Ste. 75 Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 Tel: (702) 254-7775 Fax: (702) 228-7719 Email: croteaulaw@croteaulaw.com

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

(A) Basis for the Supreme Court's Appellate Jurisdiction: The Order Granting Respondent Green Valley South Owners Association No.1's (the "HOA") Motion to Dismiss alternatively Motion for Summary Judgment (the "HOA MSJ") and the Joinder of Nevada Association Services, Inc., ("NAS" or "HOA Trustee") thereto is a final judgment ("HOA Order"), appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(1). That final judgment made the interlocutory Order Granting in Part Defendant Green Valley South Homeowners Association's Motion to Dismiss Complaint (the "HOA MTD") appealable.

(B) The filing dates establishing the timeliness of the appeal: The Notice of Entry of Order Granting the HOA MSJ was filed and served on Appellant on February 16, 2021. JA0613. The Notice of Appeal was filed on March 9, 2021. JA0633.

(C) The appeal is from a final judgment.

III. NRAP 17 ROUTING STATEMENT

The instant matter should be retained by the Supreme Court of Nevada, because this appeal raises as a principal issue a question of ongoing statewide concern involving the common law and statutory interpretation of NRS Chapter 116. NRAP 17(a)(12). The issue presented in this appeal represents a case regarding the scope of the duty owed by the HOA and the HOA Trustee of good faith, honesty in fact, observance of reasonable standards of fair dealing, and candor in the conduct and performance of a homeowners' association assessment lien foreclosure sale. Specifically, pursuant to common law and/or NRS Chapter 116, and specifically NRS 116.1113, what are the duties and obligations of a homeowners association, and its agent, the association's foreclosure trustee, in disclosing a "tender" as defined in *Bank of America N.A. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC*, 427 P.3d 113 (Nev. 2018) to the bidding public at or before a homeowners association's lien foreclosure sale following reasonable inquiry by the Appellant if such a tender of the superpriority lien amount had been attempted or in fact paid by any individual or entity prior to the homeowners associations assessment lien foreclosure sale?

IV. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

Whether the district court erred by granting the HOA MSJ and the HOA Trustee Joinder in light of the following:

1. Does a homeowners' association and/or its agent, the homeowners' association's foreclosing trustee, have a duty and obligation to disclose a lender's tender of the superpriority amount of a homeowners association's lien prior to the homeowners association's assessment lien foreclosure sale after reasonable inquiry from a bidder and/or Appellant before or at the foreclosure sale?

2. Based on the pre-2015 version of NRS Chapter 116, and after reasonable inquiry by the bidders and/or the Appellant at or before the homeowners association's assessment lien foreclosure sale, are the homeowners association and/or the foreclosing trustee relieved of liability if the homeowners association and/or its foreclosing trustee intentionally withhold materially adverse information of an attempted request or actual tender, or are the homeowners association and the homeowners association's foreclosing agent obligated in good faith pursuant to the mandates of NRS 116.1113, NRS 116.1108, and common law to be truthful and candidly respond to reasonable inquiries of whether a tender had occurred prior to the homeowners association's lien foreclosure sale?

3. Does a homeowner association and/or its foreclosing agent have a duty to disclose a tender or attempted payment under NRS Chapter 113 since a tender and/or attempted payment materially affects the value of the property being sold, and NRS Chapter 113 does not exclude NRS Chapter 116 foreclosure sales from the disclosure requirements contained in Chapter 113?

4. Did the district court commit errors of law and abuse its discretion by granting the HOA MSJ under NRCP 56(b) and HOA MTD under NRCP 12(b)(5) when the Complaint and the record provides facts, which if true, would entitle Appellant to relief?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 15 2019, Appellant filed its Complaint. JA001. Appellant's Complaint asserted four (4) claims for relief against the HOA and HOA Trustee: (i) intentional, or alternatively negligent, misrepresentation; (ii) breach of the duty of good faith; (iii) conspiracy; and (iv) violations of NRS 113. *See id.* These claims are related to Appellant's purchase of real property commonly known as 137 Elegante Way, Henderson, Nevada 89074 (APN 177-13-214-086) (the "Property") at a homeowners association foreclosure conducted by the HOA Trustee on behalf of the HOA.

On April 5, 2019, the HOA filed an Answer to the Complaint. JA0022. On September 20, 2019, the HOA filed the HOA MTD. JA0028. On October 18, 2019, the HOA Trustee filed a joinder to the HOA MTD. JA0086. On October 29, 2019, Appellant filed its Opposition to the HOA's MTD and HOA Trustee's joinder. JA0089. On December 3, 2019, the HOA filed a Reply in support of the HOA MTD. JA206. February 7, 2020 the district court entered the Order granting in part the HOA's MTD and HOA Trustee's joinder as to the conspiracy claim. JA0238. On May 1, 2020, the HOA Trustee filed an Answer to the Complaint. JA0245. On October 25, 2020 the HOA filed the HOA MSJ. JA0255. On October 29, 2020, the HOA Trustee filed a joinder to the HOA MSJ. JA0295. On November 9, 2020, the Appellant filed its Opposition to the HOA's MSJ and HOA Trustee's joinder. JA0298. On November 24, 2020, the HOA filed its Reply in support of the HOA MSJ. JA416. On December 1, 2020, the district court heard oral argument on the HOA MSJ and granted the same, with the HOA Trustee's joinder. JA0567.

VI. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

1. Appellant is the record title holder of the Property, which Appellant acquired by Foreclosure Deed dated September 7, 2012 and recorded in the Clark County Recorder's office on September 7, 2012 pursuant to a homeowners' association lien foreclosure sale conducted on August 31, 2012 (the "HOA Foreclosure Sale"), performed by the HOA Trustee on behalf of the HOA. *See* JA0002.

2. The HOA is a Nevada common interest community association or unit owners' association as defined in NRS 116.011. *Id.* at \P 4.

3. The HOA Trustee is a debt collection agency retained by the HOA as its agent to act as foreclosing trustee. *Id.* at \P 5.

4. Under Nevada law, homeowners associations have the right to charge property owners residing within the community assessments to cover the homeowners associations' expenses for maintaining or improving the community, among other things. *Id.* at \P 8.

2

5. When the assessments are not paid, the homeowners association may impose a lien against real property which it governs and thereafter foreclose on such lien. *Id.* at \P 9.

6. NRS 116.3116 makes a homeowners association's lien for assessments junior to a first deed of trust beneficiary's secured interest in the Property, with one limited exception; a homeowners association's lien is senior to a deed of trust beneficiary's secured interest "to the extent of any charges incurred by the association on a unit pursuant to NRS 116.310312 and to the extent of the assessments for common expenses based on the periodic budget adopted by the association pursuant to NRS 116.3115 which would have become due in the absence of acceleration during the 9 months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien." NRS 116.3116(2)(c). *Id.* at ¶ 10.

7. In Nevada, when a homeowners' association properly forecloses upon a lien containing a superpriority lien component, such foreclosure extinguishes a first deed of trust. JA0003 at ¶ 11.

8. On or about June 5, 2008, Dennis L. Scott (the "Former Owner") purchased the Property and entered into the first deed of trust in the amount of \$ 179,188.00 with CTX Mortgage Company, LLC, a Delaware corporation

3

("Lender"¹), which deed of trust was recorded against the Property on June 27, 2008 (the "Deed of Trust"). *Id.* at ¶ 12.

9. The Former Owner executed a Planned Unit Development rider along with the Deed of Trust. *Id.* at \P 13.

10. On September 26, 2011, MERS, on behalf of Lender, assigned its beneficial interest by Assignment of Deed of Trust to Bank of America, N.A. ("BANA") and recorded the document in Clark County Recorder's Office on October 5, 2011. *Id.* at ¶14.

11. The Former Owner of the Property failed to pay to HOA all amounts due pursuant to HOA's governing documents. *Id.* at ¶15.

12. Accordingly, on August 23, 2011, HOA Trustee, on behalf of HOA, recorded a Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien, which stated that the amount due to the HOA was \$818.70, plus continuing assessments, interest, late charges, costs, and attorney's fees (the "HOA Lien"). *Id.* at ¶ 16.

13. On November 18, 2011, HOA Trustee, on behalf of the HOA, recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under Homeowners Association Lien (the "NOD") against the Property, which stated the amount due to the HOA was

¹ The term "Lender" applies to any assignee of the subject deed of trust.

\$1,819.50 as of November 16, 2011, plus continuing assessments, late fees, interest and attorney's fees and costs. *Id.* at ¶17.

14. Upon information and belief, after the NOD was recorded, BANA, through counsel Miles, Bauer, Bergstrom & Winters, LLP ("Miles Bauer") contacted the HOA Trustee and requested a ledger identifying the Super-Priority Lien Amount, comprising of up to 9 months of delinquent assessments that were owed to the HOA as of the HOA Lien ("Super-Priority Lien Amount"). *Id.* at ¶ 17.

15. Thereafter, BANA, through Miles Bauer, provided a payment of \$882.00 to the HOA Trustee, which included payment of up to nine months of delinquent assessments (the "Attempted Payment"). *Id.* at \P 22.

16. HOA Trustee, on behalf of the HOA, rejected BANA's Attempted Payment of \$882.00. *Id.* at ¶ 23.

17. On April 23, 2012, HOA Trustee, on behalf of the HOA, recorded a Notice of Sale against the Property ("NOS"). *Id.* at \P 24. The NOS provided that the total amount due the HOA was \$2,946.17and set a sale date for the Property of May 18, 2012, at 10:00 A.M., to be held at Nevada Legal News, 930 So. Fourth Street, Las Vegas, Nevada. *See id.*

18. Neither the HOA nor the HOA Trustee informed or advised the bidders and potential bidders at the HOA Foreclosure Sale, either orally or in writing, that any individual or entity had attempt to pay the Super-Priority Lien Amount. JA0005 at ¶ 30.

19. Plaintiff appeared at the HOA Foreclosure Sale and presented the prevailing bid in the amount of \$3,555.00, thereby purchasing the Property for said amount. *Id.* at \P 29.

20. Upon information and belief, Lender alleges that its Attempted Payment of the Super-Priority Lien Amount served to satisfy and discharge the Super-Priority Lien Amount, thereby changing the priority of the HOA Lien vis a vis the Deed of Trust. *Id.* at ¶ 32.

21. Upon information and belief, Lender alleges that as a result of its Attempted Payment of the Super-Priority Lien Amount, Appellant acquired title to the Property subject to the Deed of Trust. *Id.* at \P 33.

22. Upon information and belief, if the bidders and potential bidders at the HOA Foreclosure Sale were aware that an individual or entity had attempted to pay the Super-Priority Lien Amount and/or by means of the Attempted Payment prior to the HOA Foreclosure Sale and that the Property was therefore ostensibly being sold subject to the Deed of Trust, the bidders and potential bidders would not have bid on the Property. *Id.* at ¶ 34.

23. Had the Property not been sold at the HOA Foreclosure Sale, HOA and HOA Trustee would not have received payment, interest, fees, collection costs and assessments related to the Property and these sums would have remained unpaid. JA0006 at \P 35.

24. HOA Trustee acted as an agent of HOA. *Id.* at ¶ 36.

25. HOA is responsible for the actions and inactions of HOA Trustee pursuant to the doctrine of respondeat superior. *Id.* at \P 37.

26. HOA, by and through its agent, and HOA Trustee, sought to hide material information related to the Property: the HOA Lien; the Attempted Payment of the Super Priority Lien Amount; the rejection of the Attempted Payment; and the priority of the HOA Lien vis a vis the Deed of Trust, from the bidders and potential bidders at the HOA Foreclosure Sale. *Id.* at ¶ 38.

27. The information related to any Attempted Payment or payments made by Lender, BANA, the homeowner or others to the Super-Priority Lien Amount was not recorded and would only be known by BANA, Lender, the HOA, and HOA Trustee. *Id.* at ¶ 39.

28. Upon information and belief, HOA and HOA Trustee withheld the aforementioned information for their own economic gain and to the detriment of the bidders and potential bidders at the HOA Foreclosure Sale. *Id.* at \P 40.

29. It was Appellant's practice and procedure that when it would attend NRS Chapter 116 sales, by and through its agent, at all times relevant to this case, the Trustee would attempt to ascertain whether anyone had attempted to or did tender any payment regarding the homeowner association's lien, including but not limited to the Attempted Payment. JA0334.

30. At all times relevant to this matter, if Appellant's agent had learned of a "tender" either having been attempted or made, the Trustee would not purchase the Property offered in that HOA Foreclosure Sale. *Id*.

31. The HOA and HOA Trustee are required to and must provide a Seller's Real Property Disclosure Form ("SRPDF") to the "Purchaser" as defined in NRS 116, *et seq.*, at the time of the HOA Foreclosure Sale. JA0012 at ¶ 91.

32. NRS 116 *et seq*. foreclosure sales are not exempt from the mandates of NRS 113 *et seq*. *Id*. at ¶ 92.

33. The HOA and HOA Trustee must complete and answer the questions posed in the SRPDF in its entirety, but specifically, Section 9, Common Interest Communities, disclosures (a) - (f), and Section 11, that provide as follows:

9. Common Interest Communities: Any "common areas" (facilities like pools, tennis courts, walkways or other areas co-owned with others) or a homeowner association which has any authority over the property?(a) Common Interest Community Declaration and Bylaws available?(b) Any periodic or recurring association fees?

(c) Any unpaid assessments, fines or liens, and any warnings or notices that may give rise to an assessment, fine or lien?

(d) Any litigation, arbitration, or mediation related to property or common areas?

(e) Any assessments associated with the property (excluding property tax)?

(f) Any construction, modification, alterations, or repairs made without required approval from the appropriate Common Interest Community board or committee?

11. <u>Any other conditions or aspects of the [P]roperty which materially affect its value or use in an adverse manner</u>?

Id. at \P 93 (emphasis added).

34. Section 11 of the SRPDF relates directly to information known to the HOA and the HOA Trustee that materially affects the value of the Property, and in this case, if the Super Priority Lien Amount is paid, or if the Attempted Payment is accepted, it would have a material, adverse effect on the overall value of the Property, and therefore, must be disclosed in the SRPDF by the HOA and the HOA Trustee when the SRPDF is completed and disclosed to the purchaser/Appellant. *Id.* at ¶ 94.

35. Section 9(c) - (e) of the SRPDF would provide notice of any payments made by BANA or others on the HOA Lien. *Id.* at \P 95.

36. Section 11 of the SRPDF generally deals with the disclosure of the condition of the title to the Property that would only be known by the HOA and the HOA Trustee. JA0012 at \P 96.

37. Pursuant to Nevada Real Estate Division's ("NRED"), Residential

Disclosure Guide (the "Guide"), the Guide provides at page 20 that the HOA and

HOA Trustee shall provide the following to the purchaser/Appellant at the HOA

Foreclosure Sale:

The content of the disclosure is based on what the seller is aware of at the time. If, after completion of the disclosure form, the seller discovers a new defect or notices that a previously disclosed condition has worsened, the seller must inform the purchaser, in writing, as soon as practicable after discovery of the condition, or before conveyance of the property.

The buyer may not waive, and the seller may not require a buyer to waive, any of the requirements of the disclosure as a condition of sale or for any other purpose.

In a sale or intended sale by foreclosure, the trustee and the beneficiary of the deed of trust shall provide, not later than the conveyance of the property to, or upon request from, the buyer:

• written notice of any defects of which the trustee or beneficiary is aware

Id. at ¶ 97.

38. If the HOA and/or HOA Trustee fails to provide the SRPDF to

Appellant/purchaser at the time of the HOA Foreclosure Sale, the Guide explains

that:

A Buyer may rescind the contract without penalty if he does not receive a fully and properly completed Seller's Real Property Disclosure form. If a Buyer closes a transaction without a completed form or if a known defect is not disclosed to a Buyer, the Buyer may be entitled to treble damages, unless the Buyer waives his rights under NRS 113.150(6). *Id.* at ¶ 98.

39. Pursuant to NRS 113.130(4), the HOA and HOA Trustee are required to provide the information set forth in the SRPDF to Appellant at the HOA Foreclosure Sale. *Id.* at ¶ 99.

40. The HOA and the HOA Trustee did not provide an SRPDF to Appellant at the HOA Foreclosure Sale. *Id.* at \P 100.

41. As a result of the HOA and HOA Trustee's failure to provide Appellant with the mandated SRPDF and disclosures required therein that were known to the HOA and HOA Trustee, Appellant has been economically damaged. JA0014 at ¶ 101.

42. BANA first disclosed the Attempted Payment to the HOA Trustee in BANA's Complaint filed against Appellant (the "Case"), filed on February 29, 2016, but not served on the Plaintiff until March 16, 2016 (the "Discovery"). *Id.* at ¶ 41.

VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews de novo an order granting a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, applying a rigorous standard, accepting the plaintiff's factual allegations as true and drawing every intendment in favor of the non-moving party. *Pack v. LaTourette*, 128 Nev. 264, 268 (2012). In asserting a claim in the complaint, the plaintiff only needs to state "a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief." NRCP 8(a). A pleading is sufficient so long as the pleading gives fair notice of the nature and basis of the claim. *Crucil v. Carson City*, 95 Nev. 583, 585 (1979). Based upon *Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp.*, 122 Nev. 621, 635 (2006), the Court must accept the nonmoving party's factual allegations and true and draw every fair factual inference from there.

This Court reviews summary judgment orders de novo. *Wood v. Safeway Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings and other evidence on file, viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, demonstrates that no genuine issue of material fact remains in dispute and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* Conclusory statements fail to create issues of fact. *Yeager v. Harrah's Club, Inc.*, 111 Nev. 830, 833, 897 P.2d 1093, 1094-95 (1995). NRCP 56's plain language "mandates the entry of summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery and upon motion, against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial." *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986) (adopted by *Wood*, 121 Nev. at 731, 121 P.3d at 1031).

Likewise, when the issue is purely a question of law, such as in cases where statutory construction is at issue, the review is also de novo. *Boulder Oaks Cmty*.

Ass'n v. B & J Andrews Enters., LLC, 125 Nev. 397, 403 (2009). "[A] complaint should not be dismissed for insufficiency, for failure to state a cause of action, unless it appears to a certainty that plaintiff is entitled to no relief under any set of facts which could be proved in support of the claim." *Zalk-Josephs Co. v. Wells Cargo, Inc.*, 81 Nev. 163, 169 (1965) (citation omitted). On a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim for relief, the trial court, and the Supreme Court must draw every fair intendment in favor of the plaintiff. *Merluzi v. Larson*, 96 Nev. 409, 411 (1980), over ruled on the other grounds, *Smith v. Clough*, 106 Nev. 568 (1990).

VIII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred when it granted the HOA's MTD and HOA MSJ's for the following reasons:

1. Appellant properly stated a claim for relief for misrepresentation.

2. NRS Chapters 113 and 116 required the HOA and HOA Trustee to disclose the Attempted Payment and they breached those duties.

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