IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAISY TRUST, a Nevada trust

Appellant,

v.

GREEN VALLEY SOUTH OWNERS
ASSOCIATION NO. 1, a Nevada non-
profit corporation; and NEVADA
ASSOCIATION SERVICES, INC, a
Nevada corporation,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 82611

District Case No. A791254

Electronically Filed
Sep 02 2021 03:36 p.m.

**RESPONDENT, GREEN VALLEY
SOUTH OWNERS ASSOCIATION
NO. 1'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Counsel for Respondent:

J. William Ebert, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 2697

Janeen V. Isaacson, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 6429

LIPSON NEILSON, P.C.

9900 Covington Cross Dr., Suite 120

Las Vegas, Nevada 89144

Tel: (702) 382-1500

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

VIII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The versions of Nevada Revised Statute (“NRS”) Chapter 116 and NRS Chapter 113 in effect on August 31, 2012 did not impose a duty on Green Valley to disclose the existence of an attempted tender of the super-priority lien amount by the holder of a deed of trust prior to sale. NRS Chapter 116 imposes express

requirements upon an HOA with respect to the foreclosure process. Prior to 2015, NRS 116.31162 through NRS 116.31168 contained no express requirement that the HOA disclose an attempted tender either in writing or verbally prior to a foreclosure sale. Instead, Daisy Trust argues this duty was *implied* citing only NRS 116.1113 in support of this argument. NRS 116.1113 states that “[e]very contract or duty governed by this chapter imposes an obligation of good faith in its performance or enforcement.” This was the wording in effect at the time of sale.

NRS 116.1113 did not create *new* duties or obligations on the part of the HOA, only dictates that the duties imposed in the remaining sections of the statute be conducted in good-faith. The only “contract” between Green Valley and Daisy Trust was a *non-warranty* deed which made no representations whatsoever as to potential encumbrances to title. Daisy Trust paid \$3,555 for the Property with full knowledge that it did so subject to ALL encumbrances on the property.

Additionally, as the foreclosure procedures and duties of an HOA are clearly set forth in NRS 116, Daisy Trust’s arguments that an HOA by inference should be included in the category of “Seller” under NRS 113.130 and be required to complete a disclosure form which lists the bank’s deed of trust as a “defect” also fails.

Since the HOA had no affirmative duty under any Nevada statute or common law to disclose the attempted tender by the holder of the deed of trust, and Daisy Trust’s claims for Intentional/Negligent Misrepresentation, Breach of the Duty of

Good Faith, Conspiracy and Breach of NRS 113 all hinge on the existence of such a duty, the district court, taking all factual allegations as true, properly ruled that Daisy Trust's Complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted and found as a matter of law in Green Valley's favor. The district court's ruling was proper, and this Court should affirm the lower court's dismissal of the Complaint with prejudice.

IX. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Did Not Err in Dismissing Daisy Trust's Claim For Intentional and/or Negligent Misrepresentation.

Daisy Trust's claims for both Intentional Misrepresentation and Negligent Misrepresentation rely on the assumption that Green Valley, through its agent NAS, had a statutory and/or common law duty to disclose that BANA tendered funds intended to satisfy the superpriority portion of the HOA lien prior to the August 31, 2012 foreclosure sale. *See Appellant's Opening Brief*, pages 14-15. This assumption is simply false and unsupported by case law or relevant statutes.

Daisy Trust, in the Opening Brief, relies on the case of *Nelson v. Heer*, 123 Nev. 217, 163 P.3d 420 (2007) to support the argument that the failure to affirmatively disclose BANA's attempted tender prior to the foreclosure sale was an "omission of a material fact" sufficient to support a claim for both Intentional and Negligent Misrepresentation. While this Court, in the *Nelson v. Heer* matter, did determine that the omission of a material fact can meet the element of a false

representation, that party had to be “bound in good faith to disclose” that fact in question. *Nelson v. Heer*, 123 Nev. 217, 225, 163 P.3d 420, 426 (2007). As will be discussed below, on or before August 31, 2012, neither Green Valley or NAS was under any affirmative duty under NRS 116 or NRS 113 to disclose the existence of the pre-sale tender and failing to do so was in no way inconsistent with the non-warranty deed provided after the sale.

In the case of *Noonan v. Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC*, 438 P.3d 335 (Nev. 2019), this Court considered whether a HOA agent was required to disclose any tender of the superpriority portion of the lien prior to a foreclosure sale of the property. After careful analysis, this Court affirmed the district court’s order granting summary judgment stating “[s]ummary judgment was appropriate on the negligent misrepresentation claim because Hampton neither made an affirmative false statement nor omitted a material fact it was bound to disclose.” *Id.* (citing *Halcrow, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 129 Nev. 394, 400, 302 P.3d 1148, 1153 (2013) (providing the elements for a negligent misrepresentation claim); *Nelson v. Heer*, 123 Nev. 217, 225, 163 P.3d 420, 426 (2007) (“[T]he suppression or omission of a material fact which a party is bound in good faith to disclose is equivalent to a false representation.” (internal quotation marks omitted)). The *Noonan* Court clearly considered its prior decision in *Nelson v. Heer* and rejected those arguments as applicable to the same basic facts as set forth herein.

Similarly, in *A Oro, LLC v. Ditech Financial LLC*, 2019 WL 913129, 434 P.3d 929 (Nev. 2019) (unpublished), the Nevada Supreme Court concluded that the district court correctly granted summary judgment for the respondent homeowners association on the appellant foreclosure purchaser's fraudulent nondisclosure claim. In *A Oro, LLC*, the foreclosure purchaser challenged the district court's entry of summary judgment in favor of the lender on the tender issue. *Id.* The foreclosure purchaser had also asserted claims against the association based upon fraudulent non-disclosure of lender's tender; however, the district court awarded summary judgment in favor of the association on the foreclosure purchaser's claim. *Id.* In upholding the district court decision, the Nevada Supreme Court determined ("among other reasons") that "there [was] no evidence that [the association] intended to induce appellant into placing the winning bid at the foreclosure sale, as [the association] was unaware of appellant's assumptions regarding the legal effect of the sale." See *Id.* (emphasis added), citing *Nelson v. Heer*, 123 Nev. 217, 225, 163 P.3d 420, 426 (2007) (setting forth the elements of a fraudulent nondisclosure claim). The *A Oro, LLC* Court also noted, "that appellant has provided no legal support for the unorthodox proposition that the winning bidder at a foreclosure sale can bring a fraud claim against the auctioneer when the auctioneer's foreclosure notices have disclaimed any warranties as to the title being conveyed." *Id.* at n.2 (emphasis added).

Recent unpublished decisions of the Nevada Supreme Court have also rejected Daisy Trust's arguments that there was a duty on the part of the HOA and its agent to disclose attempted tenders that created an omission supporting a misrepresentation claim. *See Saticoy Bay, LLC, Series 11339 Colinward vs. Travata and Montage at Summerlin Centre Homeowners Association, et. al.*, Case No. 80162, 2020 WL 6129987, at 1 (Oct. 16, 2020) *Unpublished Disposition*; *See Saticoy Bay, LLC, Series 3123 Inlet Bay vs. Genevieve Court Homeowners Association, et. al.*, Case No. 80135, 2020 WL 6130912, at *1 (Oct. 16, 2020); *See Saticoy Bay, LLC, Series 8320 Bermuda Beach vs. South Shores Community Homeowners Association, et. al.*, Case No. 80165, 2020 WL 6130913, at *1 (Nev. Oct. 16, 2020); *See Saticoy Bay, LLC, Series 6408 Hillside Brook vs. Mountain Gate Homeowners Association, et. al.*, Case No. 80134, 2020 WL 6129970, at *1 (Nev. Oct. 16, 2020); *See Saticoy Bay, LLC, Series 8920 El Diablo vs. Silverstone Ranch Homeowners Association, et. al.*, Case No. 80039, 2020 WL 6129887, at *1 (Oct. 16, 2020); *LN Management LLC Series 4980 Droubay v. Squire Village at Silver Springs Community Association*, No. 79035, 2020 WL 6131470, at *1 (Nev. Oct. 16, 2020); *Tangiers Drive Trust v. The Foothills at MacDonald Ranch Master Association*, No. 78564, 2020 WL 6131435, at *1 (Nev. Oct. 16, 2020); *Cypress Manor Drive Trust v. The Foothills at McDonald Ranch Master Association*, No. 78849, 2020 WL 6131467, at *1 (Nev. Oct. 16, 2020).

As to the claim of Negligent Misrepresentation, Daisy Trust also argues that the district court erred in dismissing its claim under a NRCP 56(b) analysis because adequate facts were plead to support the claim even absent an affirmative duty to disclose pursuant to this Court's analysis in *Barmettler v. Reno Air, Inc.*, 114 Nev.441 (1998). These alleged facts were that Green Valley and NAS had a pecuniary interest in the outcome of the foreclosure sale and that they "...supplied false information (or at least omitted information) when asked whether a tender/Attempted Payment had been made, upon which Appellant justifiably relied." *See Appellant's Opening Brief*, page 15-16. This is simply not the case. At no point in the Complaint or briefing did Daisy Trust ever allege a specific inquiry made to NAS or Green Valley prior to or during the foreclosure sale to which either provided false information or ignored a documented inquiry about any presale tender. There was only a vague Declaration from Eddie Haddad that he generally would attempt to determine whether a tender had been issued prior to sale. *See* JA-0334. This Declaration contained no specific information as to the Property, including what attempts were made to contact Green Valley or NAS prior to the sale, whether he was able to speak to anyone representing either, who he spoke to, what was said or not said or any other details which would provide a sufficient basis to support that either Green Valley or NAS "supplied false information for the guidance of others in their business transactions..." *See Id.* at 449. Such vague allegations are also

insufficient to support a claim that Haddad had a “...justifiable reliance upon the information...” *Id.* The only fact pled specifically as to the Property were that the foreclosure deed states that the Property was sold ‘without warranty expressed or implied,’ as required by NRS 116.31164(3)(a) as it existed at the time of the sale. *See* JA-84-85. Under the weight of the Nevada Supreme Court’s decision in *Noonan, A Oro*, the multitude of unpublished opinions identical to the facts as alleged in this case, as well as the express provisions of NRS 116, Daisy Trust is unable to assert as a matter of law that the HOA or its agent intentionally or negligently misled it by not disclosing an attempted tender.

B. The District Court Did Not Err in Determining That, At The Time of the Foreclosure Sale, The HOA Had No Legal Duty To Affirmatively Disclose The Existence Of An Attempted Tender Under NRS Chapter 116.

Daisy Trust alleges that Green Valley, through its agent NAS, breached its duty of good faith under NRS 116.1113 by failing to disclose the existence of the Miles Bauer tender. *See* JA-10-11, Complaint ¶¶ 71-81. This claim presupposes such a duty exists despite the lack of any such specific requirements in the pre-2015 version of NRS 116 in existence at the time of the foreclosure sale.

It is true that NRS 116.1113 imposes a duty of good faith in the performance of every contract or duty governed by the statute. Nev. Rev. Stat. § 116.1113. However, the only “duties” owed to Daisy Trust are outlined in sections 116.31162 through 116.31168. HOA complied with these duties by complying with all notice

and recording requirements set forth in NRS 116 as it existed at the time of the sale. HOA was not required to disclose the existence of a pre-sale tender of the super-priority portion of the lien. Further, it was specifically prohibited from giving any purchaser at auction a so-called warranty deed. The only type of deed it could give to any purchaser was one made “without warranty” pursuant to NRS 116.31164(3)(a).

The 2015 Legislature substantially revised NRS 116, see 2015 Nev. Stat., Ch. 266. Under the current version of the statute, an HOA is required to record satisfaction of the super-priority lien at least 5 days before the date of sale. See Nev. Rev. Stat. § 116.31164(2). The current version of the statute, however, is not controlling here. The version that applies is the version that was in effect at the time of the events giving rise to this action. See generally *Sandpointe Apts. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 313 P.3d 849, 853 (Nev.,2013) (“Substantive statutes are presumed to only operate prospectively, unless it is clear that the drafters intended the statute to be applied retroactively.”); see also *Landgraf v. USI Film Products*, 114 S.Ct. 1483, 1487, 511 U.S. 244, 245 (U.S.Tex.,1994) (“The presumption against statutory retroactivity is founded upon elementary considerations of fairness dictating that individuals should have an opportunity to know what the law is and to conform their conduct accordingly.”).

In an effort to circumvent the clear legislative intent, Daisy Trust attempts to piggy-back the good-faith language of NRS116.1113 with Comments to Section 1-113 of the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (“UCIOA”) and argue that the two statutes combined together imposed a responsibility upon the HOA to affirmatively disclose any tenders to potential bidders to comply with a “candor” element of the good-faith duty. *See* Opening Brief, pages 17-18. Daisy Trust further grasps at the Restatement (Second of Contracts) Section 205 to tie candor and honesty into the provision. *Id.*

Implicit, however, in the application of these principles to the instant matter is the fact that NRS 116.1113 does not impose extra-statutory duties on an HOA; it only governs existing contracts and duties. *See generally PennyMac Corp. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC*, 2018 WL 4413612, at *3 (Nev., 2018) (unpublished) (“Accordingly, we are not persuaded that the agent’s failure to undertake the extra-statutory duty ... amounts to unfairness sufficient to set aside the sale.”)

Daisy Trust’s complaint has not identified any deficiencies in the HOA’s compliance with the notice and recording requirements of NRS 116 as they existed at the time of the sale, nor will it address the fact that the HOA was statutorily prohibited from giving any purchaser at auction a so-called warranty deed. *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. § 116.31164(3)(a). Daisy Trust’s numerous opinions on what the HOA or NAS “could have” done do not create a duty or give rise to a violation of the statute.

The only applicable contract to be interpreted between the parties in this matter is the Foreclosure Deed. That Foreclosure Deed specifically set forth that the HOA provided no warranties as to the title of the Property. As the Deed of Trust had been recorded, and the HOA made no representations as to the title, Daisy Trust has no argument that the HOA or its agent acted in a manner inconsistently with the contract between the parties.

In *Noonan*, this Court held that NRS Chapter 116 did not impose a duty to disclose an attempted tender on the HOA or its agent based on a comparison of the 2013 version with the 2017 version of the statute. The analysis would be the same for the 2015 version of the statute.

C. The District Court Did Not Err in Determining That, At The Time of the Foreclosure Sale, The HOA Had No Legal Duty To Affirmatively Disclose The Existence Of An Attempted Tender Under NRS Chapter 113.

Daisy Trust also argues that the HOA was required to disclose the existence of the tender pursuant to NRS 113.130, a statute which governs the disclosure of certain defects on residential property, as well as services, land uses (open range), and zoning classifications, is equally misplaced. See Opening Brief, p. 27-32; see also Nev. Rev. Stat. 113.060, et. seq.

The bank's pre-sale tender does not fit into any of the disclosure categories contemplated by NRS 113. It is not a water or sewage service, nor does it involve

open range liability, zoning classifications, gaming enterprise districts, or transfer fee obligations. See Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 113.060 through 113.085. It also does not qualify as the discovery or worsening of a defect subject to disclosure under NRS 113.130.

A “defect” is defined as “a condition that materially affects the value or use of residential property in an adverse manner.” See Nev. Rev. Stat. § NRS 113.100(1). The key to disclosure under this section is the seller’s realization, perception, and knowledge of the alleged defect. See *Nelson v. Heer*, 123 Nev. 217, 224163 P.3d 420 (2007); see also Nev. Rev. Stat. §113.140(1). A seller is not required to disclose defects of which he is unaware. *Id.*

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